Central Bedfordshire
Council
Priory House
Monks Walk
Chicksands,
Shefford SG17 5TQ
please ask for
direct line
date

This meeting
may be filmed.*

Sharon Griffin
0300 300 5066
22 February 2018

NOTICE OF MEETING
CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL
Date & Time

Monday, 5 March 2018 at 10.00 a.m.
Venue at

Room 15 - Priory House, Monks Walk, Shefford, SG17 5TQ
Richard Carr
Chief Executive
To:

The Chairman and Members of the CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL:
Elected Members (voting)
Cllrs S Dixon (Chairman), Mrs A L Dodwell (Vice-Chairman), Mrs A Barker,
Mrs S A Goodchild, Mrs C Hegley, Mrs T Stock, M A G Versallion and B Wells
[Named Substitutes:
Cllrs: R D Berry, D Bowater, Mrs D B Gurney, G Perham and G Tubb]
Officers (voting)
Director of Children’s Services
Director of Social Care, Health and Housing (or the Assistant Director
Housing Services or their representative if the Director is unable to attend)
Assistant Director Leisure, Libraries and Countryside (or their representative if
the Assistant Director is unable to attend)
Carers (non-voting)
Only four of the foster carers’ co-opted representatives will be expected to
attend at any one meeting.

*Please note that phones or other equipment
may be used to film, audio record, tweet or
blog from this meeting. No part of the
meeting room is exempt from public filming.
The use of arising images or recordings is
not under the Council’s control.

AGENDA

1.

Apologies for Absence
To receive any apologies for absence.

2.

Minutes
To approve as a correct record the minutes of the meeting of the Corporate
Parenting Panel held on the 15 January 2018 (copy attached).

3.

Members' Interest
To receive from Members any declarations of interest.

4.

Chairman's Announcements and Communications
To receive any announcements from the Chairman and any matters of
communication.
Reports

Item
5

Subject

Page Nos.

Amendment to Terms of Reference for the Corporate
Parenting Panel

15 - 18

To endorse the proposed amendment to the terms of
reference of the Corporate Parenting Panel.
6

Meeting the housing and support needs of
vulnerable young people

19 - 32

To consider a report providing an update on meeting the
housing and support needs of vulnerable young people.
7

Becoming an Adopter

33 - 40

To consider a report providing an update on the pathway
for becoming an adopter.
8

Spotlight Report on the Walking Alongside You
(WAY) project
To consider a report providing an update on the Walking
Alongside You (WAY) project.

41 - 48

9

Short term placement stability

49 - 60

To receive a presentation outlining the number of
children who have experienced 3 or more placement
moves in the past 12 months.
10

Agency Report Quarter 3 – Fostering 1 October – 31
December 2017

61 - 70

To consider a report outlining the activity in the Fostering
Service from 1 October to 31 December 2017.
11

Work Programme
To consider the Panel’s work programme.

71 - 74

Agenda Item 2
Page 5
CENTRAL BEDFORDSHIRE COUNCIL
At a meeting of the CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL held at Room 15, Priory
House, Monks Walk, Shefford on Monday, 15 January 2018
PRESENT
Elected Members (voting)
Cllrs Mrs C Hegley (Chairman)
Mrs A L Dodwell (Vice-Chairman)
Mrs A Barker
N B Costin
Mrs A L Dodwell
M A G Versallion
Officers (voting)
Mrs J Ogley, Director of Social Care, Health and Housing
Carers (non-voting)
Mr P Albon
Apologies for Absence:

Mrs J Edwards, Head Virtual School
Mrs S Harrison, Director of Children's Services
Mr G Jones, Deputy Director Safeguarding and Early Help
Mr D Thorne, Carer
Cllr B Wells, Deputy Executive Member for Community
Services

Members in Attendance: Cllrs R D Berry
D Bowater
K Ferguson
Officers in
Attendance:

Ms R Coals
Mr A Coman
Ms J Edwards
Ms S Griffin
Ms K Mathu
Ms T McDonald
Miss N Phillips

Others in Attendance:

Principal Social Worker and Head of
Professional Standards
Head of Corporate Parenting
Interim Virtual School Head Teacher
Committee Services Officer
CYP Participation Officer
Designated Nurse for Looked After
Children
Practice Manager Adoption
For Children in Care Council

Agenda Item 2
CPP Page 2

CPP/17/29.

Page 6

15.01.18

Minutes
The minutes of the meeting held on the 13 November 2017 were approved as
a correct record and signed by the Chairman subject to the following
amendments:
Minute CPP/17/22 (Chairman’s Announcements and Communications)
Amend the wording in paragraph four from ‘the Head of Service, Family
Support Service’ to ‘Head of Corporate Parenting’.
Amend the wording in the second bullet point in paragraph five from ‘Adult
Social Worker of the Year’ to ‘Children’s Social Worker of the Year’.

CPP/17/30.

Members' Interests
None received.

CPP/17/31.

Chairman's Announcements and Communications
The following announcements and communications were made:


The Chairman reflected on the Social Worker of the Year Awards in
November 2017. She congratulated the service for being named Best
Social Work Employer and Jason Sedgman, Senior Practitioner in the
Children with Disabilities Team, who received a silver award in the
Children’s Social Worker of the Year category.



The Chairman advised the Panel that the Leader had made some changes
to his Executive team, specifically, Cllr Steven Dixon, would assume
responsibilities for Families, including both Education and Children’s Social
Care. The Chairman explained that she would retain responsibility for Adult
Social Care and Housing Operations (HRA), dealing with the issues of an
ageing population including Learning Disability services and would
additionally take on responsibility for Customer Services.



The Chairman Panel referred to the Terms of Reference for the Corporate
Parenting Panel which set out that the Executive Member for Children’s
Services would be Chairman of the Corporate Parenting Panel. The Panel
were advised that Cllr Dixon would therefore take up the position of
Chairman of Corporate Parenting Panel at the next meeting on the 5 March
2018.

Members of the Panel thanked Cllr Hegley for the excellent work she had
undertaken during her role as Chairman which included raising the profile of
Looked After Children.
CPP/17/32.

Central Bedfordshire Council Looked After Children Annual Report
The Panel considered the report outlining the achievements, progress and
challenges of the Looked After Children (LAC) health service in meeting the

Agenda Item 2
CPP Page 3

Page 7

15.01.18

health needs of Bedford Borough Council (BBC) and Central Bedfordshire
Council (CBC) children and young people in care, during the period from 1 April
2016 to 31 March 2017.
Points and comments included:
1. The Looked After Children Designated Nurse apologised for the delay in
presenting the Annual Report which was due to a period of sickness. She
explained that the information and data in the report related only to Central
Bedfordshire, that Health data was received on a monthly basis from
colleagues who attended Quality Meetings, that LAC services were
commissioned by Public Health and that mental health services were
commissioned from East London Foundation Trust (ELFT).
2. A lot of work had taken place around partnership working Health which
included the Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) sitting on the Child Sexual
Exploitation Group (CSEG) and involvement with the Local Safeguarding
Children Board (LSCB) and the Voice of the Child sub-group.
3. The Looked After Children Designated Nurse had taken on the
responsibilities of Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) Lead as the post had
only been commissioned by BCCG for one year.
4. There was now a single point of contact for CAMHS. Referrals were triaged
via the appropriate service.
5. Norfolk County Council was leading the work on the East of England
Protocol. The aim was for the Protocol to be implemented across
Bedfordshire rather than a pilot. Feedback on the East of England Protocol.
6. As part of the Safeguarding Policy, each GP practice should have a
designated lead for safeguarding children and young people. SystmOne, a
patient data system used by GPs, included an icon for the identification of
Looked After Children and was directly linked to the system used in
Children’s Services. Every GP practice and school should also have a
Designate LAC Social Worker.
7. Central Bedfordshire had also signed up to The Child Protection Information Sharing project (CP-IS), a new database which alerts Social
Care and Health Care teams when a child known to social services and is a
Looked After Child or on a Child Protection Plan, attended an NHS
unscheduled care setting, such as an emergency department or a minor
injury unit.
8. The 7 children who did not receive an Initial Health Assessment (IHA) were
either unaccompanied Asylum Seekers who went missing before their IHA
or were LAC who refused to have an assessment.
9. The average score for the Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ)
had reduced year on year (14.5% in 2015/16 to 13.2% in 2016/17). A
further reduction had been seen in January 2018 (12.3%).

Agenda Item 2
CPP Page 4

Page 8

15.01.18

10. Feedback received from parent carers was that Health representatives did
not always attend Annual Review meetings. The Looked After Children
Designated Nurse explained that the Designated Clinical Officer has the
responsibility for SEND and that Health representation at Annual Review
meetings could be either the Designated Nurse for Looked After Children,
the Speech and Language Therapist or Occupational Therapist. Work was
taking place to ensure future attendance.
11. Following a recent review, improvements had been made to the Health
Passport For Looked After Children. Discussions continued about ways to
make the paper copy more robust such as a hard cover.
12. Members of the Panel asked very challenging questions around the
lateness of the report as the data presented was a year out of date. The
Director of Social Care, Health and Housing advised that the timeliness of
the report would be discussed with the Director of Children’s Services and
the content discussed with the Clinical Commissioning Group and relevant
colleagues.
13. The Panel asked how issues that only pertained to CBC such as the
shortfalls in health could be identified and understood?
NOTED
the Central Bedfordshire Looked After Children Annual Report.
RESOLVED
1. that an update on CAMHS be given at a future meeting.
2. that an update on the East of England Protocol be given at a future
meeting.
3. that a copy of the Health Passport for Looked After Children be
shared at a future meeting and an explanation on how the Passport
works would be given.
CPP/17/33.

Adoption Fund
The Panel considered the report outlining the Department for Education
Adoption Support Fund.
Points and comments included:
1. 11 applications for funding totalling £52, 055.00 had been submitted and
agreed during this reporting period.
2. Family therapy was a key intervention. Feedback received from adoptive
parents accessing this service was that therapy sessions were invaluable
support and were key to maintaining family life and stability.

Agenda Item 2
CPP Page 5

Page 9

15.01.18

3. Funding was being used in more efficient ways such as the provision of
therapeutic courses for 16 families in partnership with Bedford Borough and
Milton Keynes Council.
4. The criteria for the Adoption Support Fund was clearly defined in terms of
what services were in scope and were out of scope. The travel costs for
therapy providers were limited as time should be spend providing therapy
not travel time and mileage. Part of the role of the Adoption Support
Service was to ensure efficient use of Adoption Support Fund and that the
access and intervention was effective.
5. The Adoption Support Service determined the support and intervention
needed which would be of benefit to the family. Throughout the process
there were continued discussions about what approach was best for the
family.
6. Central Bedfordshire was the hosting authority and lead for the design and
development of the Regional Adoption Agency project. An outline business
case had been developed and the Adoption Support Passport would be
brought into alignment with the project. The perception was that the
Regional Adoption Agency would be fully functional when the Adoption
Support Fund was discontinued in March 2020.
7. The provision of therapeutic intervention Dyadic Developmental Practice
(DDP) continued to be a challenge in Bedfordshire.
NOTED
the report outlining the Department for Education Adoption Support
Fund.
CPP/17/34.

LAC Social Worker 'Churn'
The Panel considered the report outlining the Social Work churn for Looked
After Children in Central Bedfordshire.
Points and comments included:
1. The data gathered was for the 12 month period of January to December
2017. Although the data requested by the Panel was for Social Work churn
for Looked After Children, some Looked After Children had a Social Worker
as a temporary arrangement in other parts of the system other that the
Corporate Parenting team.
2. The report was reassuring in terms of the stability of social workers.
However it would be of interest to know how many social workers a Looked
After Child whilst they are in care.
3. The Stability Index was a new initiative by the Children’s Commissioner to
measure the stability of the lives of children looked after by local authorities.
A pilot had taken place involving 22 local authorities to gather data on the

Agenda Item 2
CPP Page 6

Page 10

15.01.18

number of placement moves, school moves and changes in social worker
care. This initiative had not been adopted in Central Bedfordshire as yet.
4. The Head of Corporate Parenting explained that the data for Central
Bedfordshire indicated that children in the Corporate Parenting Team had
the same social worker in the majority of cases. Some of the planned
changes were positive. The focus needed to be on unplanned changes
which could be disruptive to the child or young person.
5. The national average number of cases seen to be manageable and safe for
a social worker at one time was 16/18. However this number depended on
the complexity of the case and associated court proceedings.
6. The Out of Hours Social Services Emergency Duty Team provided out of
hours support for Adults and Children. A Head of Service is also on call at
any one time.
7. The retention rate of Social Workers in Central Bedfordshire remained very
positive with only 3 individuals moving on in the first year of employment for
personal reasons. The average age of social workers in Central
Bedfordshire was currently late 20’s early 30’s.
8. The Academy of Social Work and Early Intervention was a good success
story around recruitment. The Academy worked with Social Workers as
students and encouraged them to apply for a job with CBC when they
finished university.
9. Concern was expressed about the effect of planned social worker moves on
a child/young person which included the deterioration of a good relationship
with their social worker, becoming very cynical and not wanting to engage.
The potential impact on those involved such as Foster Carers also needed
to be taken into account.
10. The change in social workers and the stability often came up in
conversation between children in care and Children in Care Council
ambassadors.
11. The effect of change in social worker on a child/young person should not be
underestimated as the most important aspect was the person who talked
and listened to the child and fed this information back to ensure stability.
12. It was important that the child and their family were aware of the journey of
the adoption and fostering process, the possibility of different social
workers, the aims, and the next steps.
13. The system needed to be reflected on to ensure who it was for and did it
best meet the needs of the children and young people.
14. Did the reasons why an exceptional social worker was moved need to be
explored? There could be the scenario of four children in the same
household having different social workers. Were social workers in the right
place at the right time and was ‘Social Worker’ the correct term to use?

Agenda Item 2
CPP Page 7

Page 11

15.01.18

15. It took time to build relationships and trust and it was important that the child
did not have to tell their story numerous times. Each child has an individual
plan (Child in Need or Child Protection Plan) which is regularly reviewed by
an Independent Reviewing Officer (IRO) reporting to the Local
Safeguarding Children’s Board (LSCB).
NOTED
the Social Work churn for Looked After Children in Central Bedfordshire.
RESOLVED
1. that data be extracted to indicate the average number of social worker
changes and the top 10 children affected and reported to a future
meeting of the Panel, taking into account planned changes.
2. that the update at the March meeting on Children with three or more
placements moves in 12 months placement would include data about
outlyers.
CPP/17/35.

Post Ofsted Inspection Action Plan
The Panel considered the report outlining Central Bedfordshire Council’s
Children’s Services Post Ofsted Inspection Plan.
Points and comments included:
1. The Action Plan had been delivered by the 5 December 2017 and was
currently in month 1 of implementation. Monthly monitoring of the plan
would be undertaken by the Director of Children’s Services and the
Directorate Team for the first 3 months and quarterly thereafter.
2. After three months the decision would be made whether to continue to
monitor the plan on a monthly basis or to reduce this to quarterly.
3. The Plan focussed on three key areas; training and learning; process
changes and additional oversight and challenge
4. Feedback given from the Ofsted inspection included that Elected Members
and the Corporate Parenting Panel should be more challenging and a
critical friend and that the Children In Care Council Representative should
be more robust and challenging at CPP meetings.
5. A specific programme would be put in place to look at the issue of
Permanency.
6. After the summer, colleagues from other local authorities would be invited to
take part in a Peer Review.
7. Were the headings on the Plan robust enough? Should the Plan include
the person responsible for the area of work, milestones of what needed to

Agenda Item 2
CPP Page 8

Page 12

15.01.18

be achieved, an indicator of whether work was on track, success criteria to
set out what the outcome looked like for the local authority and for children
and families receiving the service and any financial constraints?
8. Did the Action Plan need to include information about the lack of perceived
challenge from the Panel and demonstrate areas of challenge such as
action and accountability by the Panel, benchmarking in the form of looking
at work being undertaken by Corporate Parenting Panels and visits to local
authorities rated as outstanding for children’s services Ofsted inspections?
9. Was a mechanism needed to ensure that there was no slippage to the
timeframes set in the Action Plan?
NOTED
the report outlining Central Bedfordshire Council’s Children’s Services
Post Ofsted Inspection Plan.
RESOLVED
1. that the framework for the Peer review and the findings be reported at
a future meeting of the Panel.
2. that benchmarking be undertaken by looking at the work being
undertaken by Corporate Parenting Panels in other local authorities.
CPP/17/36.

The PAUSE Programme
The Panel received a presentation on the Pause Programme.
Points and comments included:


The Programme was about early support and prevention and the link into
leaving care, early help and ongoing support.



One of the aims was that this type of intervention and wraparound support
would become part of the support package.



The approach taken in Central Bedfordshire would be in the form of the
project ‘Walking Alongside You’ (WAY) which would form part of the Team
Around the Family based in Leighton Buzzard and would include the
development of a Developing a local pathway to reduce the number of
repeat removals of children into care.



Visits had taken place to other local authorities to look at their approach and
to ensure that work was not undertaken in isolation. The projects that had
taken place so far seemed to be showing good results/outcomes in terms of
the cohort.

NOTED

Agenda Item 2
CPP Page 9

Page 13

15.01.18

the presentation on the Pause Programme.
CPP/17/37.

Work Programme
Members considered the report of the Committee Services Officer which set
out the Panel’s proposed work programme for part of the municipal year
2017/18.
RESOLVED
that the Corporate Parenting Panel work programme, as attached at
Appendix A to the report of the Committee Services Officer, be approved
subject to the addition of updates:
1. CAMHS.
2. the East of England Protocol.
3. the Health Passport for Looked After Children.
4. the average number of social worker changes and the top 10 children
affected taking into account planned changes.
5. the March meeting on Children with three or more placements moves
in 12 months placement would include data about outlyers.
6. the framework for the Peer review and the findings.
(Note:

The meeting commenced at 10.00 a.m. and concluded at 1.00 p.m.)

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 5
Page 15
Central Bedfordshire Council
CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL

Date 5 March 2018

Amendment to the Terms of Reference for the Corporate Parenting
Panel
Report of: Cllr Steven Dixon, Executive Member for Families, Education and
Children and Lead Member for Children’s Services,
(steven.dixon@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk)
Responsible Director(s): Charles Warboys, Director of Resources,
(charles.warboys@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk)
Purpose of this report
1.

To endorse the proposed amendment to the terms of reference of the
Corporate Parenting Panel.

RECOMMENDATIONS
The Panel is asked to:1.

approve the proposed amendment to the terms of reference of the
Corporate Parenting Panel as set out at Appendix A.

Overview and Scrutiny Comments/Recommendations
2.

The composition of the Panel does not form part of the business of the
overview and scrutiny committees.

Terms of Reference
3.

A request has been received from the Executive Member for Families,
Education and Children to amend the terms of reference of the
Corporate Parenting Panel to allow either the Executive Member or the
Deputy Executive Member for Families, Education and Children to be
the Chairman of the Panel.

4.

A copy of the amendment to the terms of reference are set out at
Appendix A.

Agenda Item 5
Page 16
Council Priorities
5.

The appropriate structure of the Corporate Parenting Panel will
contribute to the proper running of the Council, enabling it to meet its
priorities and ambitions, as set out in the Council’s 5-Year Plan:
www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/council/five-year/plan.aspx

Corporate Implications
Legal Implications
6.

The Children Act 2004 and the Children Act 2009 set out the duty of a
local authority to safeguard and promote the welfare of looked after
children. This duty is exercised through the role of the corporate parent
to children who are looked after.

Financial and Risk Implications
7.

There are no financial and risk implications relating to the amendments
to the terms of reference.

Equalities Implications
8.

There are no equalities implications relating to the amendments to the
terms of reference.

Conclusion and next Steps
9.

This will allow either the Executive Member or the Deputy Executive
Member for Families, Education and Children to Chair the Panel.

Appendices
Appendix A:

Terms of Reference of the Corporate Parenting Panel.

Background Papers
None
Report author(s): Sandra Hobbs, Senior Committee Services Officer,
sandra.hobbs@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk

Agenda Item 5
Page 17
Terms of Reference of the Corporate Parenting Panel
Purpose
1.

To ensure that the Council effectively discharges its role as Corporate
Parent of looked after children.

Membership
2.

The Panel will be a working group of elected Members and senior
officers, including foster carers’ representatives.
Elected Members (voting):


Eight elected Members, including the Executive Member for
Families, Education and Children , who will be the Chairman and
the Deputy Executive Member for, Families, Education and
Children who will be the Vice-Chairman. Should the Chairman
and Vice-Chairman not be present, then a Chairman will be
elected to preside at that meeting only one of whom will normally
be Chairman.

As far as is practicable the Members shall be appointed in proportion to
the overall political composition of the Council.
Officers (voting):




Director of Children’s Services
Director of Social Care, Health and Housing (or the Head of
Housing Services or their representative if the Director of Social
Care, Health and Housing is unable to attend the meeting)
Assistant Director Leisure, Libraries & Countryside, (or their
representative if the Assistant Director Leisure, Libraries and
Countryside is unable to attend the meeting).

Carers (non-voting):


Foster carers’ co-opted representatives, of whom only four will be
expected to attend at any one meeting.

Officers to support the Panel (non-voting):



As determined by the relevant Director on a meeting by meeting
basis
NHS Bedfordshire representative as required.

Quorum
A quorum of the Panel shall consist of three elected Members.

Agenda Item 5
Page 18
Frequency of Meetings
3.

To meet approximately six times a year relative to the needs of the work
programme.

Scope
4.

To consider matters pertaining to the Council’s role as a Corporate
Parent to children looked after by Central Bedfordshire Council, in
particular with regard to improving the health, education, employment,
training and housing outcomes for children looked after by Central
Bedfordshire Council through:
Improving outcomes for young people both in care and previously looked
after by Central Bedfordshire Council and:
(a)
(b)

Ensuring integrated planning and activity for children looked after
Ensuring the Council actively promotes opportunities for children
looked after by the Council.

To secure effective communication arrangements with the Children in
Care Council to ensure the following:
(a)
(b)

That their views are listened to and reflected in service delivery
Monitoring that Central Bedfordshire’s Pledge to all children in
care is fulfilled.

To consider quarterly reports on progress of the Care Matters
Implementation Plan.
To commission reports as necessary to ensure that Members of the local
authority have the information that will enable them to fulfil their role as
Corporate Parents.
Reporting
5.

To provide a report to the Council on an annual basis outlining the work
undertaken during the year and identifying a work programme for the
following year.

Revised 05.03.18

Agenda Item 6
Page 19
Central Bedfordshire Council
Meeting:

Corporate Parenting Panel

Date:

5 March 2018

Subject:

Meeting the housing and support needs of vulnerable
young people – an update

Report of:

Julie Ogley, Director of Social Care, Health and Housing
Sue Harrison, Director Children’s Services

Summary:

This report provides an update to the reports of 13th October 2014 and
18th January 2016, titled ‘Meeting the housing and support needs of
vulnerable young people’. The original report affirmed the commitment
of the Housing Service to the Corporate Parenting responsibility. This
report uses case study examples of Care Leavers to review the progress
made since January 2016.

Advising Officer:
Contact Officer:

Julie Ogley, Director of Social Care, Health and Housing & Sue
Harrison, Director Children’s Services
Nick Costin and Nigel Stock

Public/Exempt:

Public

Wards Affected:

All

Function of:

Council

CORPORATE IMPLICATIONS
Council Priorities:
The Report supports the following Council priorities to:



Promote health and wellbeing and protecting the vulnerable.
Improve educational attainment.

Agenda Item 6
Page 20
Financial:
1.

Financial costs relating to accommodation for Looked After Children (LAC) up
to the age of 18, are funded from the Children’s social care budget. For care
leavers from the age of 18 the housing costs i.e. rent/council tax are typically
met through housing benefit or personal income (where a person is employed).
Housing support services, that are non-statutory, are funded from the General
Fund and for council tenants by the Housing Revenue Account.

Legal:
2.

The Council has a duty to safeguard and promote the welfare of the children it
looks after regardless of where they live. Relevant legislation and legal
implications are outlined in Appendix 2 to this report.

3.

In relation to care leavers, Children’s services has responsibilities to 4 key
groups of young people:
 Looked after children/young people aged 16-17yrs old;
 Young people aged 16 and 17 who have ceased to be looked after between
their 16th and 18th birthday
 Young people aged 18-21yrs who have been looked after, care leavers

 Care leavers who have remained in higher education to the age of 25yrs
These are the subject of a significant update in new legislation to be implemented on 01
04 2018

Children and Social Work Act 2017
The first 3 sections of this are particularly relevant to this this report.
Section 1 outlines 7 Corporate Parenting Principles local authorities must have
regard to in their work with these children and young people:
i.
ii.
iii.
iv.
v.
vi.
vii.

to act in the best interests, and promote the physical and mental health
and well-being, of those children and young people
to encourage those children and young people to express their views,
wishes and feelings;
to take into account the views, wishes and feelings of those children and
young people;
to help those children and young people gain access to, and make the
best use of, services provided by the local authority and its relevant
partners;
to promote high aspirations, and seek to secure the best outcomes, for
those children and young people
for those children and young people to be safe, and for stability in their
home lives, relationships and education or work;
to prepare those children and young people for adulthood and
independent living

Agenda Item 6
Page 21
Section 2 requires local authorities to publish information about the services it
offers to care leavers which may assist them in preparing for adulthood and
independent living. These services may include health and well-being, education
and training, employment, accommodation, and participation in society. This is the
local offer or Leaving Care Offer
The Leaving Care Offer
This is a comprehensive statement of the services that Children’s Services, the
rest of the council including but not confined to Housing and Education, and the
council’s partners such as the NHS, and Department of Work and Pensions will
offer to looked after children/young people and care leavers in their transition to
adulthood. The production and content of CBC’s leaving care offer will be the
subject of future reports to panel
Section 3 requires local authorities to appoint a personal adviser for care leavers
who request one up until the age of 25, regardless of whether the young person
intends to pursue education or training. The local authority also has a duty to carry
out an assessment of the young person’s needs and to provide the necessary
advice and support.
Risk Management:
1.

The Council ensures that all young people looked after [16 years -18 years] are
accommodated in safe & suitable accommodation. It also has a duty to support
the transition to adulthood of its looked after children/young people.

2.

The increased vulnerability of looked after children/young people and care
leavers to negative outcomes and the difficulties they experience in achieving
positive outcomes at the same level as the general population is welldocumented. It is true for the avoidance of homelessness and the achievement
of stable living arrangements. The establishment of these living arrangements
in appropriate locations with proper support is a key element in mitigating the
well-publicised risks of Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE)

3.

89% of CBC’s 18-21yrs old care leavers live in accommodation that meets the
criteria of suitable. (The remainder are in custody or are young people who
went missing soon after they became looked after as Unaccompanied Asylum
Seeking Children) No care leavers live in Bed and Breakfast Accommodation
There is need to maintain this performance and enhance it by continuous effort
to raise further the quality and value for money of the accommodation in which
looked after children/young people and care leavers live.

4.

It is also important that the Council meets the requirements of the Children and
Social Work Act maintaining the level of its leaving care service which attracted
an OFSTED rating of GOOD in July 2017.

Staffing (including Trades Unions):
5.

Not applicable

Agenda Item 6
Page 22

6.

Equalities/Human Rights:
All looked after children and care leavers will be offered safe & suitable
accommodation appropriate to their needs. Assessments to determine
accommodation need to take into account the young person’s independence
skills, their ethnicity and disability.
Services to these children young people must take into account the abuse,
neglect or other trauma that led to them becoming looked after and the
difficulties they will experience in taking advantage of housing offers as a
result. This includes 2nd chances for accommodation and full multi-agency
support.
Unaccompanied asylum seeking children and young people should receive a
service that is both of the same quality as offered to all looked after children
and care leavers and acknowledges their different residence status and precare experiences.

Public Health
7.

Good housing has a positive impact on the physical health and emotional well
being of young people.

Community Safety:
8.

Good housing with appropriate support helps to prevent vulnerable Young
People from becoming either victims or perpetrators of crime and anti-social
behaviour.

Sustainability:
9.

Not Applicable.

Procurement:
10.

There are no procurement requirements to or as a consequence of activity and
recommendations made in this report.

RECOMMENDATIONS:
The Corporate Parenting Panel is asked to:
1

Note progress made since January 2016 towards an improved day to day
experience of housing and support services by Care Leavers, and towards improved
access to supported accommodation for those Care Leavers that are not ready for
independent accommodation at the age of 18.

2

Note the experiences and challenges of Care Leavers towards achieving suitable
housing solutions

Agenda Item 6
Page 23
3

Note and consider the proposed next steps and works in progress.

4

Note the related developments in this area

5

Note the new responsibilities of the Children and Social Work Act 2017 and how this
will influence the development of the Leaving Care Offer

Introduction and Background
11. The Corporate Parenting Operations Group (CPOG) was established in
September 2014 to enable a more co-ordinated approach to the council’s
responsibilities as a Corporate Parent, across services. Participation in this group
has been a high priority for the Head of Housing Solutions, who has attended
every meeting to date.
12. A report entitled ‘Meeting the housing and support needs of vulnerable Young
People’ was presented to the Corporate Parenting Panel (CPP) on 13 October
2014. The purpose of this report was to draw attention to challenges in relation to
housing and support for Care Leavers and other vulnerable Young People; and
to identify opportunities for closer collaboration, through the CPOG, in order to
improve the council’s response to those challenges.
13. An update report was presented to Corporate Parenting Panel on 18th January
2016. This report outlined progress, particularly in collaboration between services
but also outlined further work to do.
14. The purpose of this report is to update on progress made since January 2016 but
also to look at some real-life experiences of Care Leavers in their efforts to find
suitable and sustainable housing solutions. This was required by the Chair of the
Corporate Parenting Panel in January 2016.
15. The Leaving Care Service in Children’s Services supports 78 looked after
children/young people aged 16-17 yrs old and 127 former looked after children,
care leavers aged 18yrs+. The majority of the latter young people have achieved
independence and independent living with an appropriate tenancy.
16. This report reviews the accommodation needs of children and young people in 2
broad areas:


Looked After children aged 16-17yrs comprising:
i. Unaccompanied asylum seeking children/young people (UASC)
ii. Looked after children aged 16-17yrs who are not UASC (either born in
the UK, UK citizens or UK residents)



Former looked after children aged 18+yrs comprising:
i. Former UASC who are awaiting a decision on their application to
reside in the UK
ii. Former UASC who have exhausted all appeal rights and are awaiting
deportation
iii. Former looked after children from Group a) ii above. With the right
support all young people in this group should be able to find and fund

Agenda Item 6
Page 24
housing and subsistence through universal benefits. Accommodation
is sought for this group in exceptional experiences in response to short
term crisis.
Improving access to Council and Housing Association tenancies
17. The Council’s Housing Allocations Policy explicitly recognises Care Leavers as
having a need for social housing and improved the offer to Care Leavers.
18. Most Care Leavers apply to the Housing Register and wait in date order in Band
2, with other general needs applicants. The Housing Allocations Policy, however,
includes a Quota Scheme as an additional, planned route into social housing.
The current Annual Lettings Plan gives access to 12 one-bed units (an increase
from 10 in 2016/17) and 6 two/three bed lettings for Teenage Parents leaving
care. This enables arrangements to be planned for, well in advance, which in
turn means the arrangements are likely to be successful.
19. The quota system allows Corporate Parenting colleagues to determine priority for
rehousing on their own terms. The selected applicants can bid as Band One,
with higher priority than most other applicants. This facilitates a smoother
transition by enabling access to a letting within a more predictable time-frame.
20. Corporate Parenting colleagues successfully use all the quota nominations for
one bed units made available. To assist Corporate Parenting colleagues, make
best use of the scheme going forward, so that quota nominations are used to
best effect, the Housing Solutions Locality Manager has offered advice to
Corporate Parenting colleagues about using the normal bidding process as an
alternative to using quotas for every young person, to maximise effectiveness of
the quota scheme.
21. Where a Care Leaver is barred from the Housing Register due to their conduct,
the Housing Service holds a panel meeting to consider the person’s application,
with representation from Corporate Parenting. Where access to the register is
prohibited, there will be an agreed timetable for reconsideration, and a plan to
address behavioural barriers to rehousing.
22. Children’s Services Managers contribute to joint discussions and this is very
much in line with the lead given by the Ministerial Adviser on implementation of
leaving care elements of the Children and Social Work Act 2017. Housing and
Corporate Parenting colleagues co-operate to plan a transition into a social
housing tenancy for Care Leavers at the point they are ready to leave their care
placement and move into their own home. Care Leavers are given help to
develop their independent life-skills whilst they are waiting for their own home,
and only assisted to bid for properties once they are felt to be able to cope with
this step. Housing Services (and other social landlords) require a care plan,
which outlines the level/type of support in place to help the Care Leaver sustain
their new tenancy.
23. Floating (non accommodation based) support services are available to Care
Leavers starting Council and Housing Association tenancies, to supplement (but
not duplicate) the support provided by the Personal Advisor. Not every new

Agenda Item 6
Page 25
tenancy is successful, with rent arrears occurring in some instances. Further
collaborative work between colleagues to develop a protocol and clearer
customer pathways would be beneficial to help reduce the incidences of tenancy
failures amongst Care Leavers. Costs associated with failed tenancies are
significant (rent arrears, eviction and court costs, homelessness) so support
provision to help enable a successful tenancy is cost effective.
24. As noted elsewhere in this report, this floating support has been commended by
the Social Workers and Personal advisers working with Care Leavers in this
accommodation.
Improving access to specialist supported accommodation for vulnerable Young
People
25. Some Care Leavers have significant personal challenges that hinder their ability
to cope in mainstream housing. For instance, psychological impact of negative
life-experiences, vulnerability to peer pressure (particularly if those peers are
their main form of support); offending behaviour, and there may be Learning
Disabilities and Mental Health needs. These Young People ideally need
specialist supported accommodation to develop their life skills to the point that
independent mainstream accommodation is a good option.
26. Social Care, Health and Housing commissions Accommodation Based Housing
Support for vulnerable people, including young homeless people, in Central
Bedfordshire. Three schemes are commissioned in addition to the support
provided by the Independent Living team within Housing Services. It is clear,
however, that this accommodation/support does not cater for all vulnerable
homeless Young People in Central Bedfordshire. Services are over-subscribed
and some young people needing a highly supported environment (including
young people both above and below Adult Social Care eligibility criteria
thresholds) are not catered for by any of the local supported accommodation
services.
27. There has been work to explore additional provision of supported
accommodation for this client group. This includes the development of a foyer in
Dunstable, making use of an existing site owned by Aldwyck Housing
Association. There were several partnership meetings with stakeholders,
including the Homes and Communities Agency, to discuss requirements,
feasibility and funding options but conditions attached to the original funding of
the scheme prevented progress.
28. There are continuing discussions with Signposts (part-funded by CBC) and their
plans to expand their services for young people at risk of homelessness. The
issue is, as always, that of securing appropriate housing at the right rent/leasing
costs to make an expansion financially feasible for Signposts.

A new model, New Accommodation for our Care Leavers

Agenda Item 6
Page 26
29. Following the joint work between Housing and Children’s Services over the last 6
months, 9 young people are now living in 3 shared houses in the CBC area.
They are being getting practical support provided by Housing Officers which
adds to the work undertaken by their Social Worker or Personal Adviser. This is
high quality provision and support.
30. The work that led to this outcome began when Housing Services proposed and
developed with Children’s Services a ‘shared house’ supported model, piloted in
Houghton Regis for 16 to 17-year old Unaccompanied Asylum Seeker Children
(UASC). A three-bedroom house has been converted and a business
plan/Service Level Agreement (SLA) has been developed and agreed between
the services. This model includes an all-inclusive cost per person, which includes
rent, utility costs, and 5 hours of support tailored to the needs of the individual
young person.
31. A second business plan/SLA has been developed for 18 to 25-year-old UASC,
which has been used to agree the use of a former long term empty property in
Linslade. The property has been converted into a shared house, now occupied
by three UASC, and a tailored package of support is provided by the
Independent Living Team. A third shared house is occupied by 2 18+yr old
former unaccompanied asylum seeking children awaiting Home Office decisions,
(the 3rd resident has recently moved on leaving a vacancy the next resident has
moved in). To date, 9 units of accommodation are secured.
32. Housing Services have purchased a large property in Houghton Regis
(Puddlehill) and have planning permission to develop a 13-unit supported “move
on” housing scheme aimed at vulnerable young people. There have been initial
discussions between the services. The schemes should be completed by March
19.This additional provision, alongside other units of Transitional
Accommodation, is an important element of a plan to provide resilience across
the main towns of Central Bedfordshire, to meet the Council’s new obligations
(particularly to single person households), under the Homelessness Reduction
Act.
33. Regular meetings are now taking place and a practice manager has taken on the
role of ensuring coordination and that young people are matched to appropriate
accommodation.
34. Social Workers and Leaving Care Personal Advisers have reported positively on
the quality of support offered to young people as part of the SLA detailed above.
It is compared favourably to that provided by other providers from charitable and
private sector.
35. The gathering of intelligence around accommodation and support needs for
vulnerable Young People is a key driver towards achieving more provision.
Understanding demand and needs is a key part of CPOG. Going forward,
however, there needs to be a renewed effort to provide evidence of demand to
Housing Strategy and Planning colleagues, with the aim of informing decisions
about new-build requirements and further improving the Housing Offer to Care
leavers.

Agenda Item 6
Page 27
36. In relation to looked after children/young people and care leavers, the
information gathering is a fluid and progressive process. Having established
three shared houses, Children’s Services are realising that properties in
Houghton Regis and Dunstable are the preferred choice of many of our young
people rather than, for example, Leighton Buzzard. Their expressed wishes
have some validity. Although Leighton Buzzard is on train link to Milton Keynes,
including MK College and London, Houghton Regis/Dunstable offers proximity to
Barnfield College which many attend and links with their community and support
network. The proximity of Watling House is also an advantage.
Improving operational collaboration: a single-team approach
37. The previous reports identified a need to work more collaboratively, to address
pathway issues and to promote up-stream intervention rather than crisis
intervention, particularly in respect of challenging cases that require creativity,
insight and co-ordination across the whole system, to find the right solutions.
38. The quota scheme aids collaboration and has been instrumental in resolving
some challenging cases, by providing a stream-lined path for getting the right
person into the right property.
39. Individual challenging cases require close collaboration between front-line
managers. The CPOG acts to establish and maintain a culture of joint working
and as a mechanism to ensure that the right people participate in those case
discussions and are empowered to seek creative solutions. Undoubtedly as key
Officers change, the maintenance of a collaborative culture between services
can be challenging but it is essential to creating solutions.
40. Feedback from officers suggests that there has been a tangible cultural shift in
the way that Housing has responded to their role as a Corporate Parent. There is
further work to progress, particularly in respect of Care Leavers becoming
tenants of the Council. It is recognised that there can be conflict between the
business needs of Housing Operations (to ensure tenancy conditions and rental
obligations are met) and the need to support new tenants who get into difficulties
with their tenancy. Understanding each other’s roles and responsibilities, and a
common focus on a good outcome for the Young Person has to be reinforced.
41. The housing priority of early prevention is fully shared by Children’s Services.
There is a need to ensure that the experiences of being looked after children
prepares them for independence from the youngest age. This is in line with the
7th principle of corporate parenting. Building on this, a strong Leaving Care
Offer, produced collaboratively with young people, across the Council and its
partners will detail the support that can be offered to looked after children/young
people and care leavers between 16 and 25yrs old.
42. For a small number of young people, a bridge supporting those with acute need
from 25yrs to 30yrs old may be appropriate and is being discussed. It is likely
that further proposals will follow.

Agenda Item 6
Page 28
Next steps
43. The most important next step in driving continuous improvement is collaboration
in responding to Care Leavers needs. This includes continued commitment to
CPOG. We will continue to seek improved day to day experiences for young
people from housing and support services, to understand blockages within the
system and look for solutions. The case studies below indicate how complex and
challenging some cases are to resolve. Key steps include:



Monthly Meetings between the Leaving Care Team Managers (Children’s
Services) and Managers in Independent Living Team (Housing),
There are currently 9 places in Shared Houses provided by CBC Housing
this will increase to 15 by April 2018. By 29th March 2019 CBC Housing
will be the majority provider of supported shared housing for care leavers.

44. We will continue to gather and review intelligence about the housing need of
Young People through CPOG. The new duties of the Homelessness Reduction
Act 2017 places even greater emphasis on the Council preventing
homelessness, which will cause a rethink our approach towards young people
and Care Leavers.
45. Also, of vital importance is to continue to explore opportunities for supported
accommodation in Central Bedfordshire, and “making the case” for additional
accommodation through strategic policies, such as the Housing Strategy and
Local Plan, and through individual initiatives with key partners. It is important that
needs are evidenced and presented to ensure new housing growth can help
meet those needs. The aim is for a jointly developed evidence paper to be
presented for discussion with Strategic Housing (Planning) colleagues to help
understanding of accommodation needs by August 2018.
46. A review of performance and outcomes achieved by Signposts scheme, which
focuses on younger homeless people, will be conducted through quarterly
performance reviews and six monthly contract review meetings between he
Council (Housing) and Signposts.
47. Children’s Services are enthusiastic partners to all the recommendations above.
48. Practically, this means that meetings between managers and practitioners will
continue to take place to ensure:






The continued flow of good accommodation offers for individual young
people from some of our key groups,
Best matching of young people to accommodation
The development of accommodation offering a level of additional
support to young people with higher levels of need. By end of 2018, a
Shared House with support provision will be established for higher
need young people, if appropriate, based on the 13-unit supported
“move on” housing scheme in Houghton Regis detailed above.
Joint development of policy and procedure that will underpin these
developments,

Agenda Item 6
Page 29
49. In consultation with young people, across Central Bedfordshire Council and its
partners, a Leaving Care Offer will be developed, published and promoted to all
those qualifying for support. The aim is an ambitious Offer that includes
innovative measures to facilitate successful outcomes for young people leaving
care, including housing outcomes.
 An initial draft offer will be available by May 2018
 Final offer be completed by Sept 2018.
 All members of the Corporate Parenting panel and their agencies will
contribute to the development of the offer.
Appendix 1: Case Studies
Appendix 2: Legislation related and legal implications
Related papers
Meeting the housing and support needs of vulnerable young people, report to the
Corporate Parenting Panel dated 13 October 2014
http://centralbeds.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s52168/08%20Care%20Leavers%20rep
ort%202%2010%2014%20d%20version.pdf
Meeting the housing and support needs of vulnerable young people update, report to
the Corporate Parenting Panel dated 18 January2016
http://centralbeds.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s62330/Housing%20and%20Support%2
0Needs%20for%20Vulnerable%20People%20v2%2021Dec2015.pdf
Annual Lettings Plan 2017/18 (available on request)
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/9.36_Get_in_on_the_Act__Children_02%20web.pdf
LGA guide to Children and Social Work Act

Agenda Item 6
Page 30
Appendix 1 Legal implications and background
The Council has a duty to safeguard and promote the welfare of the children it looks
after regardless of where they live. Of particular significance in relation to their housing
needs is the fact that when a Looked After Child reaches 18 years old, they become
care leavers. In accordance with the duties outlined in the Leaving Care Act 2000, they
are then entitled to access local authority housing support.
Care Leavers are entitled to apply for a council or Housing Association home via the
Housing Register. Care Leavers are explicitly identified in the Central Bedfordshire
Housing Allocations Policy as having a need for assistance
The Council is expected to accommodate any homeless young person [aged 16-18 year
olds] under section 20 of the Children Act 1989 where it is assessed that they are a
child in need, whenever it is determined that the young person has nowhere else to
reside, and there is no appropriate adult to care for them. Young people who become
homeless and who express an explicit and fully informed view that they do not want to
become Looked After can be supported, including financially, without becoming subject
to Section 20 Accommodation and are therefore not Looked After
The Children and Family Act 2014 and the Care Act 2014 introduce new duties around
assessing and planning for care and support needs
For the Corporate Parenting Service of Children’s Services, detailed duties are laid
down in legislation on how Looked After Children/Young People should be supported in
their transition to Adulthood. The Children Act 1989 laid the foundations to these
responsibilities, which were significantly updated in Leaving the Leaving Care Act 2000,
and subsequent detailed DfE guidance in this decade. In relation to care leavers,
Children’s services has responsibilities to 4 key groups of young people:





Looked after children/young people aged 16-17yrs old;
Young people aged 16 and 17 who have ceased to be looked after between
their 16th and 18th birthday
Young people aged 18-21yrs who have been looked after, care leavers
Care leavers who have remained in higher education to the age of 25yrs

Children and Social Work Act 2017
1.

This is a significant new piece of legislation which comes into force in April
2018, there are 3 significant sections

Section 1 outlines 7 Corporate Parenting Principles local authorities must have
regard to in their work with these children and young people:
i. to act in the best interests, and promote the physical and mental health and
well-being, of those children and young people
ii. to encourage those children and young people to express their views, wishes
and feelings;
iii. to take into account the views, wishes and feelings of those children and
young people;
iv. to help those children and young people gain access to, and make the best
use of, services provided by the local authority and its relevant partners;

Agenda Item 6
Page 31
v. to promote high aspirations, and seek to secure the best outcomes, for those
children and young people
vi. for those children and young people to be safe, and for stability in their home
lives, relationships and education or work;
vii. to prepare those children and young people for adulthood and independent
living
Section 2 requires local authorities to publish information about the services it
offers to care leavers which may assist them in preparing for adulthood and
independent living. These services may include health and well-being, education
and training, employment, accommodation, and participation in society. It is
distinct from the special educational needs and disability (SEND) local offer
stipulated by the Children and Families Act 2014
This is the Local Offer or Leaving Care Offer. This is a comprehensive statement
of the services that Children’s Services, the rest of the council including but not
confined to Housing and Education, and the council’s partners such as the NHS,
and Department of Work and Pensions will offer to looked after children/young
people and care leavers in their transition to adulthood. The production and
content of CBC’s leaving care offer will be the subject of future reports to panel
Section 3 requires local authorities to appoint a personal adviser for care leavers
who request one up until the age of 25, regardless of whether the young person
intends to pursue education or training. The local authority also has a duty to carry
out an assessment of the young person’s needs and to provide the necessary
advice and support

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7
Page 33

Central Bedfordshire Council
Corporate Parenting Panel

5 March 2018

Becoming an adopter
Report of Sue Harrison, Director of Children’s Services
(sue.harrison@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk)
Advising Officers:
Gerard Jones, Assistant Director, Children’s Services Operations
(gerard.jones@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk)
Nickie Phillips – Practice Manager, Adoption
Nickie.Phillips@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk

Purpose of this report
1.

The Corporate Parenting Panel has asked for a report to be provided updating
the Panel regarding the pathway for becoming an adopter

RECOMMENDATIONS
The Corporate Parenting Panel is asked to:
1.

Note the content of the report

2.

Comment on the report

Overview and Scrutiny Comments/Recommendations
1. This item is not planned to go to Overview and Scrutiny as the report is for the
Corporate Parenting Panel only

Agenda Item 7
Page 34
Issues
1. Adoption is a way of providing the security and permanency of a new family
when it is not possible for a child to be raised by his/her birth parents or within
the birth family.
2. Adoption is a legal process which transfers parental responsibility from the
child’s birth parents to their adoptive parents. The Adoption Order is granted
by a court when the child(ren) have been living with the prospective
adopters and all concerned, including the child, are in agreement that an
adoption order is appropriate. Once an Adoption Order is made it cannot be
revoked
3. Becoming an adopter involves several stages to assess applicants’ suitability
as prospective adopters alongside preparing applicants as adoptive parents.
4. There are many myths regarding adoption but anyone over the age of 21 can
be considered as a potential adopter, regardless of marital status, disability,
gender, religion, sexual orientation, income or have parenting experience or
not.
5. The main elements Central Bedfordshire and the Adoption Agency
Regulations 2005 consider are that applicants:


are 21 years and over



have both physical and mental ability to care for children



have not been convicted of or cautioned for specified criminal offence



have physical space in their life and home for a child



are financially stable



have good and robust network of support; and that



are willing to gain childcare experience

Expressing an interest to adopt a child
6. Firstly, it is important to find out as much as possible about what it’s like to
adopt by making an initial enquiry and attending an Information Evening. This
can be either a local authority agency (in England, Scotland or Wales) or a
health and social care trust (in Northern Ireland), or a “voluntary” adoption
agency (VAA). The difference is that local authorities or health and social care
trusts will have children in their care whom they will want to place, whereas

Agenda Item 7
Page 35
voluntary adoption agencies are asked to provide families for children cared
for by local authorities.
7. The Information Evening is often the first-time applicants have begun to think
about adoption from a child’s perspective and beyond their own.
8. During the period January 2016 to January 2017, in CBC we received 131
expressions of interest from people who considered becoming an adopter.
Initial screening
9. After an initial interview the agency will invite the applicant to complete a
Registration of Interest Form (ROI), if appropriate. If the application is unlikely
to be accepted the agency provides reasons and advice and guidance about
how the matters can be addressed or other agencies they can consider.
10. During the period January 2016 to January 2017 in CBC we received 22 ROI
and all were accepted due to the initial screening process.
11. Upon receipt of the ROI the agency makes a decision whether to accept the
application within 5 days
12. If accepted the applicant is then known as a ‘prospective adopter’. If the ROI
is not accepted the agency will provide reasons and advice to the applicants.
The Assessment:
13. The prospective adopter assessment is completed in two stages, Stage 1 and
Stage 2. Stage 1 is ‘adopter led’ requiring the applicant to provide information
and start preparation training/self directed learning. Required checks and
references are also completed including:


Local Authority checks



Adult Health Medical



Personal references



Employer references



Enhanced Police check



School Reference (for any child living in the household)



Ex-partner reference

Agenda Item 7
Page 36
14. During the stage 1, applicants are required to assist with completion of the
following:


Chronology (significant life events from birth to present)



Genogram (Family tree- back to grandparents)



Eco-Map of identified support network



Financial Statement with evidence



Health and Safety check of the home



Pet assessment



Preparation, First Aid, E-Learning and Voluntary Training

15. The guided timeframe for completion of Stage 1 is two months and applicants
with Central Bedfordshire Council are supported by a Social Work Assistant
during this stage.
16. At the end of Stage 1 a brief assessment is conducted in a formal interview to
consider the applicants progress and the information obtained from checks
and references to ascertain their suitability to adopt. This interview determines
the completion of Stage 1 and progression to Stage 2. (Following completion
of Stage 1 applicants can progress directly to Stage 2 or take a break of up to
6 months before progressing to Stage 2.)
17. Stage 2 is more commonly known as the ‘home study’ assessment when a
Social Worker is allocated to complete the ‘Prospective Adopter Report’
(PAR) and is the ‘Social Work’ led part of the assessment process. The
guided timeframe for completion of Stage 2 is four months.
18. Four months begins when the applicant notifies the agency that they wish to
proceed to Stage 2 and ends when the Agency Decision Maker ratifies the
suitability as prospective adopters.
19. The allocated social worker will meet with applicants on a weekly basis to
collate information required for the assessment. Information to be discussed
and collated for the assessment include:


each applicant’s childhood history and parenting experience



the quality of their support network



lifestyle including any health-related issues



parenting capacity and childcare experience

Agenda Item 7
Page 37


current relationship and experience of previous relationships



motivation to adopt



understanding of the needs of children requiring adoption



matching considerations



The Social Worker also interviews referees to validate information
provided by the applicants and assess support available

20. Once the information is collated the social worker completes the prospective
adopters report providing all the information collated in Stage 1 and 2 with an
analysis of each section and recommendations.
21. Applicants must read the report to add their comments and ensure factual
information is accurate. This report is then Quality Assured by both the
manager and Adoption Panel Advisor prior to presentation to Adoption Panel.
22. During the period January 2016 to January 2017 CBC completed 18 positive
assessments were completed, 1 negative and 1 withdrew.
Bedfordshire Joint Adoption Panel:
23. Panel is made up of several independent members who have an interest
and/or personal experience of adoption
24. Panel members read the Prospective Adopters report and supporting
documents prior to Panel meeting
25. Members will ask relevant questions to both the applicants and social worker
in considering a recommendation for approval
26. The three recommendations Panel can make are:


Recommend approval as prospective adopters



Not recommend approval as prospective adopters



Defer approval as prospective adopters

27. Panels recommendation and the Prospective Adopters Report are provided to
Central Bedfordshire’s Agency Decision Maker (Children’s Services’ Deputy
Director) to consider for a final decision regarding the applicants’ approval as
prospective adopters. This is called a final determination.
28. Once approved the family finding process begins to identify a ‘match’ with a
child.

Agenda Item 7
Page 38
29. During the period January 2016 to January 2017, the Adoption Panel
recommended approval for 19 prospective adopters
Family Finding Process
30. Approved adopters will be considered for children from the agency, Regional
Agencies and national register (LinkMaker/Adoption Match).
31. There are no time scales for how long family finding should take for
prospective adopters. This can vary on their location, experience and range of
children they wish to be considered for.
32. During the period January 2017 to January 2018 21 prospective adopter
households, approved by Central Bedfordshire Council, have been matched
for adoption. This includes being matched with children from Central
Bedfordshire and other authorities.
33. An Annual Review of prospective adopters is required to be completed if a
match/link has yet to be identified. 3 annual Reviews have been completed
during the period January 2017 to January 2018 providing the indicator that
the majority are matched within the first year of approval.
After a potential match is identified:
34. Prospective adopters will be provided with the Child’s Permanence report and
adoption medical and will meet with the child’s social worker, foster carer and
other professionals, significant to the child’s life to consider all available
information
35. They would also receive advice from the Agency medical advisor, if health
needs are identified
36. A matching report and Adoption Support Plan are prepared and agreed
37. Prospective adopters would again attend panel for consideration with the
match. The match will then be ratified by the ADM
38. Once ADM has ratified the decision, a planning meeting outlining the plan for
introductions will takes place
39. For a small number of children and adopters, Foster for Adoption is a
possibility but this has to be considered on merits and needs of the applicants

Agenda Item 7
Page 39
and the child. For these adopters, temporary approval as Foster Carers is
obtained for a match with a specific child.
40. After the Adoption Order is granted the adopted child will, in most situations,
have a contact plan with the birth family, including parents, siblings and
significant extended family members. Contact can be:
a. Direct - Face to face
b. Indirect - Letterbox contact via the exchange of letters
41. A contact Co-ordinator manages and supports the plans for contact until a
child reaches 18 years
42. In addition, following the granting of the Adoption order, the Local Authority
continue to provide post adoption support based on the needs of the adopters
and the child. The child and/or adoptive parents can request an assessment
of adoption support needs until a child is 18yrs after which the adopted adult
can access support directly.
43. Central Bedfordshire have a Post Adoption support guide that can be
downloaded from the council website which explains the support, advice and
guidance available.
Options for consideration
44. None
Reason/s for decision
45. Not applicable
Reason for urgency
46. Not applicable
Council Priorities
47. Protecting the Vulnerable; Improving Wellbeing - Adoption ensures
permanency for our children is achieved matching them with the right
adopters
Corporate Implications
48. None

Agenda Item 7
Page 40

Legal Implications
49. None
Financial and Risk Implications
50. None
Equalities Implications
51. Central Bedfordshire Council has a statutory duty to promote equality of
opportunity, eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation
and foster good relations in respect of nine protected characteristics; age
disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy
and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation. Adoption
process promotes equality whilst matching the needs of the children with the
right adopters
Implications for Work Programming
52. Not applicable
Conclusion and next Steps

Appendices
53. None
Background Papers
54. None

Agenda Item 8
Page 41
Central Bedfordshire Council
CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL

5 March 2018

Report regarding Walking Alongside You (WAY) project
Report of Sue Harrison, Director of Children’s Services
(sue.harrison@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk)
Advising Officers:
Gerard Jones, Deputy Director, Children’s Services Operations
(gerard.jones@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk)
Alex Coman – Head of Corporate Parenting Service
(alex.coman@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk)

Purpose of this report
1.

To update the Corporate Parenting Panel on the Walking Alongside
You (WAY) project in addition to the presentation at the Panel in
January 2018

RECOMMENDATIONS
The Corporate Parenting Panel is asked to:
1. Note the content of the report
2. Comment on the report

Agenda Item 8
Page 42
Overview and Scrutiny Comments/Recommendations
1. This item is not planned to go to Overview and Scrutiny as the report is for
the Corporate Parenting Panel only
Issues
1. A study (Broadhurst et al 2014) identified that nationally, at least one in
four women, who had a child previously removed, will return to the
family court for proceedings and further children will be removed from
their care.
2. This estimate increases to almost one in every three for women aged
between sixteen and nineteen years old
3. Even if this group is well known to support services, very little work is
being done to specifically address the trauma or challenges brought
about by the repeat removal of their children or the underpinning
circumstances causing removal to occur
4. Over a seven-year period the study has covered, this group of women
are involved in 29% of all care applications in the UK. The total number
of children involved is 23,000.
5. Although nationally, 50% of mothers having children removed are aged
between 14 and 24 at first application, which ought to give mothers
significant time to mature, the national pattern is of a ‘decreasing
opportunity’ for change once a mother is “caught” in this cycle
6. A longitudinal study completed between 2014 and 2017 identified an
increased in the population affected
Financial implications
7. Based on national figures, the total average cost of a set of legal
proceedings is £70,000 per child
8. The most likely outcome for children in repeat proceedings is adoption.
In ensuring good outcome for a child who is adopted, the cost to the
Local Authority is an average one-off cost of £33,000, with ongoing
average costs of over £7,000 a year

Agenda Item 8
Page 43
9. In respect of the children who are cared for by Foster Carers (around
one in five of those in repeat proceedings) the annual average is
£32,000
10. The total cost for a child (0 – 16 years old) who achieve permanency
through adoption is over £200k
11. For a child cared for by Foster Carers, the cost is just under £600k by
the time they reach their 16th birthday
CBC Context
12. The initial scoping of the issue in Central Bedfordshire was done by
analysing the current caseload in Court and Permanency Teams. At
the beginning of November 2017, there were 17 children, some
unborn, who had an allocated Social Worker and whose mothers had
one or more children previously removed from their care by the Local
Authority. (In total, more than 30 children)
13. Children’s Services’ Resource Panel sees almost on weekly basis
requests to convene Legal Planning Meetings or to issue legal
proceedings for children who had siblings previously removed
14. A national trend we also see in CBC is that where a negative cycle of
recurrent

care

proceedings

remains

unchecked

prognosis

for

recovering parenting capacity is poor and the intervals between LA
care applications are typically short.
15. Having reviewed different projects which aim at addressing this issue,
Central Bedfordshire Children Services alongside Public Health have
developed a proposed project to support the women in this cohort
break the cycle which lead to children being removed from their care.
16. This cohort will be supported by dedicated WAY workers who will have
the role of supporting, encouraging and befriending them to reach a
point where they are ready to receive support. This will include
practical support and advice.
17. The project is based on promoting pre-established pathways in various
existing services.
18. The women in this cohort will be referred to the relevant services (to be
decided case by case) by their WAY worker and they will be

Agenda Item 8
Page 44
considered high risk/high priority in receiving the right services and
support at the right time
19. It is planned that the initial cohort will be of 20 women who had children
removed from their care, supported by 2 WAY workers. The total cost
of the team will be £70k/year. Funding is equally split between
Children’s Services and Public Health.
20. It is planned that the intervention will last up to 18 months
Council Priorities
21. Protecting the Vulnerable; Improving Wellbeing, A More Efficient and
Responsive Council
Corporate Implications
22. None
Legal Implications
23. None
Financial and Risk Implications
24. The WAY project is jointly funded by Children’s Services and Public
Health. The total cost of the service will be £70k/year.
25. The project is reliant on voluntary engagement and the success of
WAY workers to engage with women and influence change
26. Size of the cohort may fluctuate depending on the number of referrals
and consent
Equalities Implications
27. Central Bedfordshire Council has a statutory duty to promote equality
of opportunity, eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and
victimisation and foster good relations in respect of nine protected
characteristics; age disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil
partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and
sexual orientation. WAY project will promote equality and diversity

Agenda Item 8
Page 45
28. The WAY project in CBC will follow the same path as the national
PAUSE project and the contraception will be mandatory for the women
in this cohort
Implications for Work Programming
29. Progress report to be presented at the Corporate Parenting Panel at
one year after implementation – May/June 2019
Conclusion and next Steps
30. A working group is being established to develop an implementation
plan for the WAY project
31. It is proposed that the project will be managed via Children’s Services
Early Help Service with Public Health Support
32. The implementation it is aimed to start in May 2018. 5 women have
already been identified and they agreed to take part in the project. The
identification of the next 15 will continue during March and April 2018
33. A repot will be presented at the CP Panel at the one year review point
Proposed outcome/impact
34. Various projects addressing this issue are showing a very high rate of
success. For instance, in Suffolk project (Positive Choices) none of the
mothers involved in the project had an unplanned pregnancy over a
period of 2 years.
35. Other projects show a similar rate of success.
36. Based on these findings in the first year of the project in CBC we
recommend that the target should be of 50% success rate (10 of the
women part of the project will not have an unplanned pregnancy over
the first 12 moths of the project) increasing to 75% in the year after,
once the project is embedded.
37. It is planned that the initial cohort will be of 20 women who had children
removed from their care, supported by 2 WAY workers
Appendices
Appendix A - Proposed WAY business process

Agenda Item 8
Page 46
Background Papers
38. Presentation for Corporate Parenting Panel, January 18 (LINK)
39. Connecting Events in Time to Identify a Hidden Population: Birth
Mothers and Their Children in Recurrent Care Proceedings in England
(Link)
40. Vulnerable Birth Mothers and Recurrent Care Proceedings (LINK)
41. Pause Project evaluation (LINK)

Agenda Item 8
Page 47
Appendix A

This page is intentionally left blank

Short term placement stability
A Presentation for Corporate Parenting Panel
Central Bedfordshire Council Children’s Services
March 2018

Agenda Item 9

Page 49

PURPOSE
• Following a request made by the Corporate Parenting Panel in
November ’17 seeking reassurance regarding the number of children
who have experienced 3 or more placement moves in the past 12
months.
• There is a requirement placed on the Local Authority by the
Department for Education (Performance indicator - exNI62) to
measure the percentage of Children Looked After who experienced 3
or more placement moves over the previous 12 months
Agenda Item 9

Page 50

Performance context
(comparison with statistical neighbours)
Annual data

CBC performance (low is good)

Comparison to statistical
neighbours

March 2017

9.9%

No info currently available

March 2016

12.2%

11.4%

March 2015

14%

11%

At the time of writing, (January ‘18) this percentage has decreased further to 6.6% (21 children). This is a
reduction of more than 50% compared to March 2015.

Agenda Item 9

Page 51

Children with three or more placements in the
last 12 months

Page 52

Agenda Item 9

• Total number of children who experienced 3 or more moves is 21
• 2 young people had 5 moves in the last 12 months (both are 17 years
old)
• 4 children had 4 placement moves during the period (the average age
for this cohort is 16 years old)
• 15 children in this cohort had 3 placement moves (the average age in
this cohort is 9 years old) – 3 of the children in this cohort are under 1
year old and are in process of being adopted
• 2 young people in this cohort are Asylum Seekers

Analysis
(pen pictures provided in the addendum to this presentation )

Page 53

Agenda Item 9

• 8 children experienced placement moves due to challenging
behaviour
• 2 young people moved due to behaviour that lead to Youth Justice
involvement
• 1 young person had a number of placement moves due to mental
health needs
• In one of the cases the moves experienced by the young person were
directed by Court
• Some of the placement moves are good practice in achieving early
permanency

How did we do it?
• As of January 2018, 93.4% (297) of our children are in stable placements. 78.2%
(248) have been in their current placements for 2 years or more.
• The percentage of children with 3 or more moves in the last 12 months is 6.6%
(21 out of 318 children). This is a significant strengthening of placement stability
and it constitutes our best performance in the last 3 years.

• Some examples of activities which helped in achieving this:
A robust foster carers recruitment
Skill based analysis of our Foster Carers
Careful matching of our children to Foster Carers
Ongoing training and support (including out of hours) for our Foster Carers
A clinical psychologists support to Foster Carers
“fragile placement meetings” and “disruption meetings” held at point of need to prevent
breakdown
Page 54

Agenda Item 9

•
•
•
•
•
•

What does placement stability means for our
children?
• Consistency of care – a place to call home
• Secure attachment
• Improved educational outcomes
• Better mental health
• Better relationships
• Preparation for independence

Agenda Item 9

Page 55

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9
Page 57
Short term placement stability
An addendum to a Presentation for Corporate Parenting
Panel
Central Bedfordshire Council Children’s Services
January 2018
RECOMMENDATIONS:
The Corporate Parenting Panel is asked to:
1. Note the content of the addendum
2. Comment on the content

1. Purpose of the addendum
Following a request made by the Corporate Parenting Panel in November ’17
seeking reassurance regarding the number of children who have experienced 3 or
more placement moves in the past 12 months, this addendum provides five pen
pictures of the 21 children in this cohort.
There is a requirement placed on the Local Authority by the Department for
Education (Performance indicator - exNI62) to measure the percentage of Children
Looked After who experienced 3 or more placement moves over the previous 12
months
In the last 3 years CBC’s performance on this indicator improved from 14% of our
children experiencing 3 or more moves in March 15, to 9.9% in March 17.
At the time of writing, (January ‘18) this percentage has decreased further to 6.6%.
This is a reduction of more than 50% compared to March 2015.

2. Examples of cases where children had 3 or more placement moves in the
last 12 months
Having reviewed the placement moves for all children in this cohort these are the
emerging themes:
2.1 Some of the placement moves our children are experiencing are part of practice
aimed at achieving permanency for our children. An example of this is a boy who
was born at Luton and Dunstable hospital. At birth, the Local Authority issued

Agenda Item 9
Page 58
legal proceedings and the boy was made subject to an Interim Care Order whilst
still in hospital. The hospital became his first placement. When he was ready to
be discharged, he moved into a ‘Foster to Adopt’ placement and this was his
second placement. Later on, when the Placement Order was granted, the carers
were matched at the Adoption Panel and the placement became an adoption
placement. Whilst statistically this will show 3 placement moves for this boy, in
reality he was only ever looked after by the couple who adopted him.
2.2 Eight of the children had moved due to carers/residential homes giving notice
as a result of the child’s challenging behaviour. An example of this is a 14 years
old girl. She experienced long term neglect in the care of her birth family prior to
coming into care. She presents as a very angry young person who finds it hard to
regulate her emotions. She moved 2 foster placements after the foster carers
gave notice each time as they could not cope with her behaviour. She is now
placed in residential care where staff are best placed to manage her behaviours
and emotions. She is now doing well and the placement is stable.
2.3 Two young people had 3 or more placement moves due to behaviour that led to
involvement with the Youth Justice. An example of this is a 17 years old boy,
who was placed in a Young Offenders’ Institute (Y.O.I.). He was discharged in
February 17 to semi-independent accommodation until April 17 when, following a
breach of a Court Order, he was returned to the Y.O.I. On his release in June 17
he returned to live with his parents under Placement with Parents Regulations.
although Social Workers and Youth Offending Services have worked intensively
with him to prevent reoffending, he was arrested in relation to a burglary and he
was returned in custody. Social Worker and Youth Offending continue to work
with him whilst in custody in preparation for his release.
2.4 One of the young people, a 17 years old boy, had had a number of placement
moves due to his mental health needs. He was living in semi-independent
accommodation with the support of the Social Worker and other professionals.
The multi-agency group raised concerns about his mental health and the impact
this was having on his physical health. As a result, he was admitted to a
psychiatric hospital for assessment under the Section 2 of the Mental Health Act.

Agenda Item 9
Page 59
After his assessment he returned to the semi-independent accommodation with
targeted multi-agency support. The placement remains stable and multi-agency
support is regularly reviewed to ensure it meets his needs.

2.5 One of the cases where the child experienced 3 or more moves in 12 months
was court directed. One 12 years old boy had move from his mother’s care and
was placed with another carer from his family. Later, during the legal
proceedings, the Court directed the child to be returned to his mother’s care
under Placement with Parents Regulations. However, due to further concerns
regarding mother’s ability to meet his needs, the Local Authority returned to Court
and asked for the child to reside with a foster carer. This request was granted
and the young person is making progress in his current placement.

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 10
Page 61
Central Bedfordshire Council
CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL

5 March 2018

Agency Report Quarter 3 – Fostering
1 October – 31 December 2017
Report of Cllr Steven Dixon, Executive
(steven.dixon@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk)

Member

for

Social

Care

Advising Officers:
Sue Harrison, Director of Children’s Services
Sue.Harrison@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk
Annie Craig, Practice Manager, Fostering
annie.craig@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk)

Purpose of this report
1. Fostering Services Regulations 2000 requires the Fostering Agency to
monitor and control the activities of the Fostering Service and ensure
quality performance. Quarterly reports are presented to elected members
in order to outline the activities in the Fostering Service so that members
can monitor and feedback on the quality and performance of the Service.
RECOMMENDATIONS
Schedule 6 of the Fostering Regulations 2012 requires the Fostering Service
to monitor and report on specific areas of the work it undertakes. This report,
therefore, reports on these regulatory activities. The Panel is asked to:
1.

Consider and note the Fostering Agency Quarter 3 Report

Overview and Scrutiny Comments/Recommendations
2. This report has not been to or is planned to go to Overview and Scrutiny
as no recommendations are made nor are decisions required. Corporate
Parenting Panel are asked to consider and note the Fostering Agency
Quarter 3 report.

Agenda Item 10
Page 62
Issues
3. The Children Act 2004, Care Standards Act 2000 and associated relevant
Regulations and National Minimum Standards require the Local Authority
Fostering Service to report to Members regularly on the activities of the
Service. In CBC we report to Corporate Parenting Panel quarterly.
4. This is the third quarter report for the financial year 2017/2018.
Recruitment of Foster Carers
5. During October, November and December 2017, a variety of recruitment
activities and events took place in line with the Fostering Services
recruitment strategy.
6. Throughout this quarter the Service advertised:
o On 4 roundabout signs on a busy roundabout by Tesco’s in Flitwick.
o Extra-large posters were displayed in Tesco’s at Leighton Buzzard
and Dunstable.
o An ongoing online advert and editorial regarding the Intensive
Support Scheme was placed on the NARPO (National Association
Retired Police Officers).
o An advert was placed in Essex Partnership University NHS
Foundation Trust newspaper regarding the new PACE (Police and
Criminal Evidence) Scheme.
o An article and poster distribution re PACE fostering was sent to key
contacts in community safety to distribute to their contacts.
o Articles and posters were also distributed to various CBC schools
advertising the PACE scheme.
o Articles and posters were distributed to the Army Cadet Force to be
discussed at their next volunteers company meeting covering both
Bedfordshire and Hertfordshire.
o Newspaper adverts regarding fostering were placed in Luton and
Dunstable Gazette, Luton and Herald Post, Biggleswade Chronicle
and Biggleswade Today.
o A half page advert and quarter page editorial were also placed in
the Christmas edition of Primary Times, a magazine that is
available to all parents via school.
7. Press coverage continued following the Celebration of Fostering event
which had been held in September.
o Press articles of the foster carers receiving their awards were
placed in various local papers such as the Leighton Buzzard
Observer, Biggleswade Chronicle, and Luton News.
o An advert was placed on Heart radio.
o A press release regarding ‘Sons and Daughters’ week was sent to
local media and contacts.
o An E-bulletin regarding Sons and Daughters week was also placed
in the Staff Central magazine (circulated to all employees of CBC).

Agenda Item 10
Page 63
o Articles regarding the PACE Scheme were placed in Members
Information Bulletin (Councillors Newsletter), Central Essentials
(sent to head teachers and staff in schools), Governors Essential
(sent to all governors of schools and academics across CBC),
Parents Newsletter of Fulbrook School and Staff Central.
o An article about a meeting held with Councillor Chapman focussing
on the good work undertaken in the fostering service was also
placed in Staff Central.
8. The CBC website was amended to include the Ofsted good rating logo.
Regular posts/tweets took place on the fostering Facebook page and
Central Bedfordshire Facebook/Twitter pages either to promote the
different schemes or fostering in general. There was a web page take over
on the Leighton Buzzard Today website regarding the Intensive Support
Scheme. An ongoing advert placed on the homepage of Heart radio was
linked directly to the CBC fostering website.
9. As a result of the recruitment that took place during this period we
received a total of 25 enquiries, 12 in October; 8 in November and 5 in
December (this is 7 less than in the last quarter). There were 13 Initial
Visits during this period: 7 in October; 4 in November and 2 in December
(this is 5 less than in the previous quarter). There were 12 application
forms received during this period: 8 in October; 3 in November and 1 in
December (this is 6 less than in the previous quarter). Based on the
feedback received, the most effective form of recruitment during this
period was CBC’s website.
Assessments of Carers
10. 22 new assessments were started: 4 career carers, 8 Regulation 24
(temporary approval for carers with family or friendship connections to the
child), 9 Assessments as Family and Friends Foster Carers/Special
Guardianship Carers (SGO’s) and 1 Supported Lodgings assessment (this
is 2 less than in the previous quarter). As of the 31st December 2017 there
were a total of 10 assessments in progress: 3 career carers, and 7 Family
and Friends/SGO assessments.
11. 5 Fostering households were approved during this quarter, 3 career foster
carers and 2 Family and Friends carers.
De-registrations /resignations
12. There were 4 de-registrations of foster carers, 1 carer resigned due to
separating from an existing foster carer, 1 set of carers resigned as they
were retiring and wanted to travel, 1 carer resigned as they wanted to
spend more time with their grandchild and 1 carer resigned as they had
only provided about 6 nights care for a child over the past year and did not
want to expand their approval. It was not good use of resources for her to
continue to be approved as a foster carer and she therefore took the
decision to resign.

Agenda Item 10
Page 64

13. 1 carer had their approval terminated due to concerns regarding their
ability to meet the requirements of the Fostering Regulations/National
Minimum Standards and because of their inability to work effectively with
professionals.
14. As of the 31st December 2017 the CBC Fostering Agency had a total of
111 fostering households (compared to 110 in the previous quarter), 85 of
these were career carers.
15. In relation to the ethnicity of foster carers and children placed, there is a
fair match of ethnicity with foster carers broadly reflecting the ethnicity of
our children in care.
Ethnicity
Ethnicity

Foster Carers

Looked After
Children

White

89%

71.8%

Dual Heritage

0.5%

7.3%

Black or Black British

5.8%

3.8%

Asian

3.2%

5.4%

White Other

1.6%

3.2%

Traveller

/

0.3%

Gypsy/Roma

/

0.6%

Other

/

7.6%

100%

100%

16. As of the 31st December 2017 there were a total of 224 children placed in
foster care, 145 were placed with in house foster carers compared to 79
with Independent Fostering Agencies (IFA’s). The number of children
placed with in house carers is increasing year on year. At the end of
December 2017, the percentage of children placed in house was 65%
which is an all-time high. This increase has been achieved by the ongoing
work within the Service to support the recruitment and retention of CBC
foster carers. Our aspiration is to increase this further to 70%. This
aspiration recognises that there will always be children that need to be
placed out of area or in IFA/residential placements. However, having more
in-house Foster Carers will improve services to children in care and it will
also decrease CBC’s reliance on more expensive IFA placements.

Agenda Item 10
Page 65
Placement Stability
17. Placement stability remains good. The Service has 2 Performance
Indicators, 1 for short term and 1 for long term.
18. The short-term indicator is in relation to the percentage of Looked After
Children (LAC) with 3 or more placement moves over the previous month.
The target set for this financial year was 8% (low is good) and at the end
of December 2017 the Service had exceeded this target at 7.3%
19. The long-term indicator looks at the percentage of children under 16 who
have been looked after continuously for 2.5 years and been in the same
placement for at least 2 years or have been placed for adoption. The
target set for this financial year was 80% (high is good) and at the end of
December 2017 the Service had achieved 78.2%
20. Other indicators of placement stability include the fact there have been no
notifications made to Ofsted regarding any events or significant incidents,
there have been no allegations made against foster carers and no new
complaints made during this period. Foster carers are attending more
training and developing their skills and knowledge which means they are
better able to support the children in their care. When placements become
fragile or disrupt the service is quick to respond in order to resolve issues
and support carers appropriately.
21. As of the 31st December 2017 there were 142 Special Guardianship
Orders in place (compared to 143 at the end of the last quarter). Although
Special Guardian Order (SGO) carers are generally expected to access
universal services, they are entitled to seek support from the Local
Authority as and when required. The Fostering Service continues to work
with a small cohort of families who contact the service sporadically for
support and advice. On average the service works with about 5 families a
month and will undertake visits or provide telephone support in order to
meet the needs of individual carers. The main area Special Guardianship
Order (SGO) carers seek support with is in relation to contact, children’s
behaviour or support in financing respite or holiday activities.
Referrals/Placements
22. During October, November and December 2017 there were 44 new
fostering placements made: 14 in October; 17 in November and 13 in
December. This is an increase of 27 new placements compared to the last
quarter. 23 of the children were placed with in house foster carers and
tended to be in the younger age range. 21 children were placed externally,
all were aged 15 + apart from 2 babies who were placed in parent and
child placements. 12 of the young people placed externally were
Unaccompanied Asylum-Seeking Children (UASC).

Agenda Item 10
Page 66
Training
23. During this quarter foster carers accessed a wide range of training
opportunities to help them develop their knowledge and skills. The
Fostering Service provided 15 specialist in house training courses this
quarter where 191 carers attended.
Training included:
- Safer Caring, a new approach,
- Peer pressure and bullying - experiences of under 12’s in school
(CAMHS),
- Therapeutic parenting with PACE (Playfulness, Acceptance, Curiosity
and Empathy) in mind,
- Ways to break down barriers with hard to reach young people,
- Emergency first aid,
- Mindfulness and stress management,
- Managing violence and aggression,
- Developing protective behaviours
- Health and wellbeing for carers,
- Secure base and Placement journey,
- Managing loss and separation and
- Supporting the health of our children
24. Nine foster carers also accessed training from the Early Years
programme:- these included;
- Crisis Intervention,
- Mentoring, supporting children through traumatic situations and selfregulation,
- supporting wellbeing,
- safeguarding children in the digital world; from discovery to recovery
- Introduction to supporting transgender children and young people.
25. Thirty-seven foster carers also accessed e-learning training on the
following subjects:
- Contact in Foster Care,
- Safer caring,
- E-safety- guidance for practitioners and parents,
- Equality and Diversity,
- An Introduction to the autism spectrum,
- Basic awareness of child and adult sexual exploitation,
- Safeguarding children from abuse by sexual exploitation,
- Behaviour and the physical environment,
- Communicating with children and young people,
- Child Development,
- An introduction to Safeguarding Children,
- Safeguarding and leadership,
- Awareness of child abuse and neglect,
- Attachment and brain development and the role of the foster carer.
26. As of the 31st December 2017 there were

Agenda Item 10
Page 67
-

85 fostering households who had completed their mandatory Training,
Support and Development Standards (TSD’s);
10 households were yet to complete their portfolios but still had time to
address within the required timescales.
Three households were overdue in completing their TSD Standards
and were outside the required timescale. Supervising social workers
and the Marketing, Recruitment and Training Officer were providing
additional support to help these carers achieve the standards.

Ofsted Notifications
27. Whenever a significant event happens i.e. a child goes missing from
placement or a serious incident/accident occurs the agency have to report
these to Ofsted. During this period, no notifications were necessary.
Allegations
28. No allegations were made regarding foster carers.
Complaints
29. No new complaints were received. However, in December a previous
complainant took her case to the Ombudsman. The final outcome is not
yet known.
Compliments
30. Two compliments were received regarding the Service. One was from a
foster carer in respect of the positive support her supervising social worker
had provided and the other was from a foster carer who provided positive
feedback regarding the Christmas social event the Service provided.
Annual Budget
31. In the Year 2017/2018 the Fostering Service within Children’s Services
had an annual budget of £1,163,393.
Reporting to Members – Legal Requirements
32. Regulations, associated Statutory Guidance and National Minimum
Standards outline the requirements to report to Members on the
management and outcomes of services provided, in order that they can
satisfy themselves that they are effective and achieving good outcomes for
children.
Risk Management
33. Regulatory Risks: Failure to report to Members would be a breach of
National Minimum Standards.

Agenda Item 10
Page 68
Staffing
34. The Fostering Agency comes under the umbrella of the Corporate
Parenting Service;
o The Head of Service has overall management responsibility for
Fostering Service and is the responsible person who reports to
Ofsted.
o Under the Head of Service is the Practice Manager who is also the
Registered Manager for Fostering and reports to Ofsted. This
person monitors and manages the activities of the Fostering
Agency.
o Practice manager supervises 2 Team Managers who have day to
day responsibility for management of 2 fostering teams.
o During this period, a Business Support Officer apprentice started
o Interviews for 4 social worker vacancies took place with 3
appointments being made.
o Two locum social workers left the service in preparation for
permanent staff who had been recruited.
Council Priorities
35. Children and Families First.
36. Working as One Team close to our community.
37. Being great Corporate Parents to children in care and care leavers – much
more than care.
38. Being a well-managed service and providing great public care.
Corporate Implications
39. Not applicable.
Legal Implications
40. This report provides updating information to allow consideration of the
activities of the Fostering Agency in the previous quarter as required by
legislation, there are no further legal implications.
Financial and Risk Implications
41. The report is an update on the service and does not have financial
implications.

Agenda Item 10
Page 69
Equalities Implications
42. Central Bedfordshire Council has a statutory duty to promote equality of
opportunity, eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and
victimisation and foster good relations in respect of nine protected
characteristics; age disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil
partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and
sexual orientation. The report highlights ongoing efforts to recruit foster
carers from diverse backgrounds and to provide training and development
in relation to equality issues.
Implications of Work Programming
43. The 4 quarter Fostering reports feed into an annual report which is then
presented to Overview and Scrutiny along with the Fostering Recruitment
Strategy.
Conclusion and next Steps
44. During this quarter, the service has continued to focus on recruiting and
assessing foster carers. 5 career carers were approved this quarter and
another 4 are in assessment which means the Service is on target to meet
its recruitment target of 10 new career carers for this financial year.
45. The percentage of children placed in house compared to IFA’s stands at
65%. Whilst the percentage of children placed in house at the end of
December 2017 is the same as it was for December 2016 the actual
number of children placed in house has increased. At the end of
December 2016 there were 131 children placed in house compared to147
at the end of December 2017. This is a significant increase and is as a
result of LAC numbers increasing during this period. If the recruitment
targets for 2017/18 are met or exceeded this percentage is likely to
increase further.
46. Placement stability remains good with carers reporting feeling well
supported. The low number of fragile placement/disruption meetings
during this quarter and the fact there have been no Ofsted notifications,
allegations or new complaints against foster carers made, also indicates
the good placement stability figures.
47. In conclusion, the Fostering Service continues to provide a good service
where foster carers are well supported, and children’s needs are
appropriately met. The Service strives to learn and develop practice and
introduce new schemes in order to enhance its offer and contribute to
good outcomes for looked after children.
Appendices
48. None.

Agenda Item 10
Page 70
Background Papers
49. None.
Annie Craig
Practice Manager, Corporate Parenting Service - Fostering

Agenda Item 11
Page 71
Central Bedfordshire Council
Corporate Parenting Panel

5 March 2018

Work Programme
Advising Officer:
Sharon Griffin, Committee Services Officer
(Sharon.griffin@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk)
Purpose of this report
The purpose of this report is to assist the Corporate Parenting Panel in
discharging its responsibilities by providing a proposed work programme for
consideration.
RECOMMENDATION
That the Panel considers the proposed work programme attached at
Appendix A.
1.

To assist the Corporate Parenting Panel a work programme is attached
at Appendix A to this report. The work programme contains the known
agenda items that the Panel will need to consider.

2.

Additional items will be identified as the municipal year progresses.
The work programme is therefore subject to change.

Council Priorities
3.

The activities of the Corporate Parenting Panel are crucial to ensuring
that the Council effectively discharges its role as Corporate Parent of
Looked After Children. By considering, approving and following its
work programme the Panel helps support the Council’s priorities of
providing improving education and skills, protecting the vulnerable;
improving wellbeing and being a more efficient and responsive Council.

Corporate Implications
Legal Implications
4.

There are no legal implications.

Financial and Risk Implications
5.

There are no financial and risk implications.

Agenda Item 11
Page 72

Equalities Implications
6.

Central Bedfordshire Council has a statutory duty to promote equality
of opportunity, eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and
victimisation and foster good relations in respect of nine protected
characteristics; age disability, gender reassignment, marriage and
civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex
and sexual orientation.

7.

Report authors will be encouraged to work with the Corporate Policy
Advisor (Equality & Diversity) in order to ensure that relevant equality
implications are identified.

Conclusion and next Steps
8.

This report will assist the Corporate Parenting Panel in discharging its
responsibilities. Any amendments approved by the Panel will be
incorporated in the work programme.

Appendices
The following Appendix is attached:
Appendix A – Corporate Parenting Panel Work Programme
Background Papers
None

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A

Page 73

Corporate Parenting Panel Work Programme
2017/18 Municipal Year
3 July 2017





4 September 2017

13 November 2017















15 January 2018

5 March 2018














30 April 2018









Independent Reviewing Officers’ Annual Report 2016/17
(SK)
Fostering Recruitment and Retention Strategy 2017/18
(AC)
Investigating Concerns and Complaints against Foster
Carers (AC)
Fostering Agency Q4 Performance Report (AC)
Fostering Agency Annual Report 2016/17 (AC)
Adoption Recruitment Strategy 2017/18 (NP)
Adoption Agency Annual Report 2016/17 (NP)
Work Programme (LM)
Fostering Service Q1 Report (AC)
Children in Care Council Progress Report (MS/CiCC)
MOMO App Demonstration (MS/CiCC)
Work Programme (LM)
Fostering Service Q2 Report (AC)
Adoption Agency Six Monthly Interim Report AprilSeptember 2017 (NP)
Virtual School for LAC Final Report for Academic Year
2015/16 (JE) EXEMPT ITEM
Virtual School for LAC Interim Report for Academic Year
2016/17(JE) EXEMPT ITEM
Work Programme (LM)
LAC Annual (Health) Report (NHS – Bedfordshire
Clinical Commissioning Group) (TMcD)
LAC Social Worker ‘Churn’ (RC)
Adoption Fund (NP)
Presentation on the PAUSE Programme (AC/GJ)
Action Plan arising from the Ofsted inspection
Work Programme (LM)
Leaving Care Housing (spotlight report) (AC/NS)
Spotlight Report on the PAUSE Programme (AC/GJ)
Children with 3 or more placement moves in 12 months
(including data about outlyers) (AC/GJ)
Fostering Service Q3 Report (A Craig)
Spotlight report on how the adoption process works and
how people become adopters (GJ)
Work Programme (SG)
Adoption Agency Statement of Purpose 2018/18 (AC)
Fostering Agency Statement of Purpose 2018/19 (AC)
Questionnaire for Foster Carers
CiCC and Participation Annual Report 2017/18 (KM)
Virtual School for LAC Interim Report (JE)
Presentation on the exemption of Care Leavers from
Council Tax (AC/KM)

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A


Work Programme (SG)

Unscheduled reports:
1. The appointment of a lay member/parent and the appointment of a
substitute elected Member to the Joint Adoption Panel (author to be
determined).
2. ‘Spotlight Report’ on the current process which applies to young people as
they move into adult social care and what additional action can be taken to
improve support for them during this phase (young people to be invited to
attend and talk about their experiences) (GJ)
3. ‘Spotlight Report’ on how the adoption process works and how people
become adopters (GJ) – AC suggestion – timetabled for March 18
4. ‘Spotlight Reports’ on the following issues:
a. LAC with disabilities (KH)
b. Unaccompanied asylum seekers as LAC (AC)
c. The Virtual School (JE)
d. The reason for, and the impact of, the movement of LAC between
different foster carers (AC)
i. (authors to be determined)
5. A report by the foster carer representatives (Central Bedfordshire branch
of the FCA) setting out feedback on various issues of their choice.
6. ‘Spotlight Report’ on youth support and help for adolescents in gaining
further education, apprenticeships or employment (GJ) (09.05.16)
7. ‘Deep Dive Report’ with presentation on care leavers’ employment
(including Aspirations Wish List) (GJ) (08.05.17)
8. How does the CiCC view Members? (04.09.17)
9. Questionnaire for Foster Carers (13.11.17) – AC suggestion - to be
timetabled for May 18
10. Permanency Planning for Children including the process and early
intervention (13.11.17) – suggested a full report in line with OFSTED plan
to be presented September/November 18
11. CAMHS and data available
12. East of England Protocol
13. update on the Health Passport for Looked After Children and how the
Passport works would be given.
14. Report on the average number of social worker changes and the top 10
children affected (taking into account planned changes)
15. Peer review and the findings.

Page 74

